APOPTOSIS IN ACUTE AND CHRONIC NEUROLOGICAL DISORDERS

Oleksandr Ekshyyan and Tak Yee Aw

Department of Molecular and Cellular Physiology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, Shreveport, Louisiana

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The apoptosis death machinery
 - 3.1. Signaling via death receptors and mitochondria
 - 3.2. Caspases: Apoptosis initiation and execution
 - 3.3. Mediators of cellular apoptosis
- 4. Apoptosis and neurodegenerative disorders
 - 4.1. Apoptosis involvement in neurodegeneration
 - 4.1.1. Alzheimer's disease
 - 4.1.2. Parkinson's disease
 - 4.1.3. Huntington's disease
 - 4.1.4. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
 - 4.1.5. Spinal muscular atrophy
 - 4.1.6. Diabetic neuropathy and retinopathy
 - 4.2. Apoptosis in cerebral stroke, trauma and ischemia/reperfusion
- 5. Summary and perspective
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Programmed cell death or apoptosis is a physiologically important process in neurogenesis wherein ~50% of the neurons apoptose during maturation of the nervous system. However, premature apoptosis and/or aberrations in apoptosis control contribute to the pathogenesis of a variety of neurological disorders including acute brain injury such as trauma, spinal cord injury, ischemic stroke and ischemia/reperfusion as well as chronic disease states such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, spinal muscular atrophy, and diabetic neuropathy. The current review will focus on two major topics, namely, the general concepts of our current understanding of the apoptosis death machinery, its mediators and regulation, and the relationship between aberrant apoptosis and genesis of neurodegenerative disorders. This knowledge of apoptosis mechanisms will underpin the basis for development of novel therapeutic strategies and treatment modalities that are directed at control of the neuronal apoptotic death program.

2. INTRODUCTION

Apoptosis is an orchestrated form of physiological cellular suicide common in a variety of biological processes, such as embryogenesis, synaptogenesis, immune response, and normal tissue and organ involution. Apoptosis is best defined by distinct morphological changes characterized by chromatin condensation, cytoplasmic and nuclear compartment shrinkage, vesicular apoptotic body formation and DNA degradation into oligonucleosome-length fragments. Apoptosis of targeted cells within a tissue is mediated by

activation of cell signaling that results from engagement of the apoptotic stimuli and cell surface death receptors or from direct disruption of the mitochondria and the subsequent activation of executioner caspases. This organized apoptotic death program is distinguished from necrotic cell death which occurs in random and involves the loss of plasma membrane integrity, increased cell swelling and lysis. In recent years, the recognition that aberrant apoptosis may contribute to the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration has spurred apoptosis research in this field. The current chapter will focus on the specific concepts and aspects salient to understanding the control of cellular apoptosis that are relevant to acute and chronic neurological disorders.

3. THE APOPTOSIS DEATH MACHINERY

3.1. Signaling via death receptors and mitochondria

Apoptosis commitment at cell surfaces occurs through death receptor clustering. Death receptors are unique cell surface sensors that belong to the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) gene superfamily of which Fas (also called CD95) and TNF receptor 1 (TNFR1) are the two best known. These receptors are defined by cysteine-rich extracellular domains and homologous cytoplasmic death domains, and are activated by ligands of structurally related molecules of the TNF gene superfamily (1). Activation steps in the apoptotic cascade involve formation of the death inducing signaling complex (DISC), recruitment of adaptor proteins, and proteolytic cleavage and activation of caspases-8 and-3 (1-3). The interaction of TNF or Fas Ligand with their respective receptors and the associated adaptor proteins, the TNFR-associated or Fas-associated

death domains (TRADD and FADD) independently activates the mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and the NFkappaB pathways (4). The TNF-alpha/TNFR1 and the Fas/Fas Ligand are the two best-described death receptor pathways in the immune system, and mutations of the CD95 or CD95 Ligand death receptor system in mice and humans lead to fatal autoimmune syndromes that result from an inability to eliminate self-reactive lymphocytes by apoptosis (3). The role of death receptor activation in neuronal apoptosis associated with neurological disorders is unclear.

Mitochondrial signaling typically mediates cell apoptosis induced by oxidative stress (5). The central paradigm in this process is the release of cytochrome c which couples with the apoptotic protease activating factor-1 (Apaf-1) and procaspase-9 to form the apoptosome complex during activation of caspase-3 (6). Mitochondrial cytochrome c release occurs by opening of a specific channel, the permeability transition pore in the mitochondrial membrane. Current evidence favors loss of the mitochondrial inner transmembrane potential (Delta psi) and transition pore opening in apoptosis onset (5). Members of the BcL-2 family are the gatekeepers of channel-mediated mitochondrial loss of cytochrome c (6), and the balance between the expression of pro-apoptotic members (e.g., the BH3 and Bax subfamilies) and antiapoptotic members (BcL-2 and BcL-xL subfamilies) controls the permeability transition pore function and mitochondrial cytochrone c release (5). Other contributing mitochondrial soluble factors include apoptosis inducing factor, pro-apoptotic Smac/DIABLO protein, procaspases, and specific inhibitor apoptosis proteins, IAPs (3, 5). Reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been implicated as mitochondrial apoptotic modulators of signaling. Consistent with this contention, a disturbance of the electron transport chain which promotes ROS production has been shown to be intricately linked to the loss of mitochondrial cytochrome c (7). The combination of the mitochondrial ROS signaling mechanism as well as the pathway of cytochrome c-caspase-3 activation would cell death. together, guarantee In ischemia/reperfusion, an ROS mechanism of apoptosis signaling is expected to contribute to post-ischemic neuronal cell death.

3.2. Caspases: Apoptosis initiation and execution

Caspases are cysteine proteases where enzyme catalysis is dependent on four amino acids N terminal to the cleavage site at the aspartate residues (8). Caspase members that are associated with cell apoptosis belong to the groups II and III classes that include caspases 3, 8, and 9 with caspase-8 and 9 serving as the respective initiators in the death receptor and mitochondrial pathways (8). Caspase activation is a tightly regulated process which is achieved through autocatalysis through interactions with adaptor proteins. Activation has been shown to be modulated by specific decoy proteins; pro-caspase-8 activation is prevented by the FADD-like ICE inhibitory proteins which share sequence homology with procaspase-8 but lack the catalytic domain while pro-caspase-9 activation is modulated by the apoptosis repressor or inhibitor proteins

(8). Caspase-3 is the best characterized downstream effector caspase with forty known substrates. Among these are the inhibitor of caspase-activated deoxyribonuclease, the BcL-2 family of proteins, cytoskeletal proteins like gelsolin, focal adhesion kinase and p21-activated kinase, and proteins involved in DNA repair, mRNA splicing and DNA replication (3, 8). Because of their defined function, cysteine proteases are a popular target protein class for strategic development of inhibitors and mimics in various diseases including apoptosis associated inflammatory disorders and stroke.

3.3. Mediators of cellular apoptosis

Oxidants are well known triggers of apoptosis of which hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is best studied (9). Physiologically important H₂O₂ producers include mitochondrial and extra-mitochondrial sources, such as cytoplasmic cytochrome P-450 and membrane bound NADPH oxidase. Popular paradigm supports H₂O₂ as a mediator of mitochondrial membrane potential collapse that leads to the release of cytochrome c and the activation of caspase-9 (7, 9) although existing evidence also implicate H₂O₂ in apoptosis initiation in the Fas/Fas Ligand signaling pathway. Support for this latter mechanism comes from the findings chemotherapeutic drugs induce intracellular ROS production and Fas upregulation (10) and that ROS directly upregulate the Fas Ligand (11). There is evidence that low concentrations of H₂O₂ can directly activate caspases while prolonged H₂O₂ exposure inactivates caspases through oxidation of critical sulfhydryl moieties (12). A role for cellular redox in apoptosis is supported by the findings that glutathione (GSH) decreases were associated with enhanced cellular apoptosis (13) and GSH increases were associated with expression of BcL2 (14). More recently, we documented that it is the change in cellular GSH-to-GSSG ratio rather than changes in GSH per se that specifically mediated cell apoptosis and that this redox shift preceded caspase-3 activation (15). Furthermore, changes in GSSG-to-GSH ratio rather than GSH alone uniquely activate the nuclear transcription factor, kappa B (NFkappaB) (16). These results underscore an important mechanistic distinction between apoptosis regulation by GSH or by the GSH-to-GSSG (or redox) status. Among the components of the apoptotic machinery, the mitochondrial permeability transition pore and caspases are susceptible targets for redox control. Disulfide crosslinking in the transition pore alters the gatekeeping function of BcL-2 (17), while oxidation or thiol alkylation of cysteine active sites in caspases results in loss of enzyme activity (9). An antiapoptotic role for the thioredoxin/thioredoxin reductase system in cellular apoptosis has been described. The findings that expression of redox-inactive thioredoxin promoted apoptosis and overexpression of thioredoxin protected cells from apoptotic death (18) are consistent with this notion. The extent to which redox contributes to neuronal apoptosis that is associated with acute cerebral ischemic insults or neurodegenerative disorders in vivo is not known. In recent studies, a role of cellular redox in oxidant-mediated apoptosis has been defined in

the mitotic competent undifferentiated PC-12 cell model (19 - 21).

While TNF-alpha is best known for its role in inflammation, it has been shown to induce apoptosis in nonimmune tissues via the death domain of its cell surface receptor, TNF-R1. In the pathogenesis of neurological diseases, TNFa has been implicated in infectious and immunological conditions such as multiple sclerosis, bacterial meningitis, and AIDS, as well as non-infectious, acute cerebral insults like ischemic stroke (22). In addition, TNF-alpha has been shown to participate in chronic neurodegenerative diseases such as Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, and cerebral degeneration (22). A duality for nitric oxide (NO) in cellular apoptosis has been described. NO can promote or inhibit cellular apoptosis depending on the cell type, the concentration of NO and the nature of the apoptotic stimuli. The generally accepted view is that NO is anti-apoptotic as evidenced by studies showing that inhibition of endogenous NO synthase enhanced apoptosis (23), and activation of inducible nitric oxide synthase inhibits cell apoptosis (24). NO acts on cysteine caspases wherein Snitrosylation of the cysteine thiol results in the formation of the signaling species, R-S-NO (9). This NO-mediated nitrosylation and denitrosylation in caspase-3 activation (25) is akin to phosphorylation/dephosphorylation in kinase activation. The redox control of the transcription factors, NFkappaB and activator protein-1 (AP-1) may also be mediated by S-nitrosylation.

NFkappaB is a well studied nuclear transcription factor in cellular apoptosis. Support for an anti-apoptotic function comes from studies showing that mice deficient in the NFkappaB gene die embryonically from extensive cellular apoptosis (26). The findings that NFkappaB activation was protective against TNF-induced apoptosis while NFkB inhibition sensitized TNF-induced death (4) and that inhibition of NFkappaB activation promoted H_2O_2 and superoxide-induced apoptosis (27) are consistent with an anti-apoptotic role. The paradigm that NFkappaB can mediate aspects of apoptosis is less well documented. AP-1 has been reported to be a pathophysiological regulator of apoptosis in the endothelium (28).

4. APOPTOSIS AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

4.1. Apoptosis involvement in neurodegeneration

During normal development of the central nervous system, ~50% of neurons are eliminated by apoptosis. Naturally occurring neuronal death is characterized by increased intracellular caspase activation and defined apoptotic morphology. Impairment in apoptosis regulation that results in premature cell death during ontogenesis can lead to pathological consequences and development of neurodegenerative disorders. Current evidence supports a role for apoptosis in a variety of neurological disorders.

4.1.1. Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a neurological condition characterized by progressive loss of memory and

intellectual function. The pathological hallmarks of AD include extracellular amyloid plaques and intraneuronal fibrillar structures such as neurofibrillary tangles, neuropil threads, and dystrophic neuritis invading amyloid plaques. A role for apoptosis in AD is supported by clinical as well as experimental evidence. Elevated incidence of apoptosis and coincidence of DNA fragmentation with increased c-Jun protein (29), expression of early proapoptotic gene (30), decreased expression of BcL-2 concomitant with increased Bax (31), and the presence of activated caspase 3 within autophagic granules (32) in the brain of AD patients are consistent with enhanced apoptotic activity. Betaamyloid involvement in neuronal apoptosis is well studied in cultured neurons wherein beta-amyloid causes membrane blebbing, nuclear chromatin condensation, and caspase activation (33 - 36). Mechanistically, beta-amyloid induces neuronal apoptosis by an oxidative mechanism. Treatment of neuronally differentiated neuroblastoma cells with β-amyloid peptides induced an early and simultaneous production of H₂O₂ and 4-hydroxynonenal (HNE), followed by activation of JNK and p38 MAP kinases and nuclear changes characteristic of apoptosis (37). Cell apoptosis and disease progression were prevented by antioxidants such as alpha-tocopherol and N-acetylcysteine, and elevated lipid peroxidation (38) and decreased glutathione transferase activity (39) have been detected in AD brain or cerebrospinal fluid, consistent with an involvement for oxidative stress in AD pathogenesis. Whether oxidative stress is causal or coincidental in neuronal apoptosis in AD development remains to be defined.

The role for presenilin (PS1) in neuronal apoptosis in AD pathology has been demonstrated in cell and mutant mouse models. Mutant PS1 proteins were shown to enhance neuronal susceptibility to various insults such as trophic-factor withdrawal, beta-amyloid or glutamate exposure, and energy deprivation (40). An involvement of PS1 in apoptosis under oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in the AD brain was evidenced by the blockade of mutant PS1-mediated apoptotic induction by agents that prevent oxidative stress and intracellular calcium elevation (41). Apart from parenchymal damage, cerebrovascular lesions such as cerebral endothelial microvascular degeneration and cerebral amyloid angiopathy have been documented in AD cases, indicating an involvement of cellular elements of the blood brain barrier (42). Notably, barrier dysfunction is most evident in AD patients who exhibit peripheral vascular defects associated with hypertension, diabetes or cardiovascular disease. The mediators of brain endothelial apoptosis and dysfunction are unknown, and it is unclear whether cerebrovascular lesions are causal in AD pathogenesis.

4.1.2. Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's (PD) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease characterized by a loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta. Familiar PD (~5%) is linked to mutations in alpha-synuclein, parkin, and ubiquitin C-terminal hydrolase L1. A pathogenic role for apoptosis in PD is supported by

findings of activated caspase-3, -8 and -9 and higher activities of caspases-1 and -3 in dopaminergic substantia nigra (SN) neurons in PD brains (43, 44). The neurotoxin (1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydro-pyridine, MPTP) mouse model is currently the most widely used experimental animal model of PD wherein drug administration increases apoptotic neurons in SN. The findings that BcL-2 overexpression (45) and Bax deficiency (46) attenuates MPTP neurotoxicity are consistent with involvement of an apoptotic pathway. Furthermore, MPTP neurotoxicity was diminished in transgenic mice deficient in the proapoptotic p53 gene (47). An oxidative mechanism for neuronal apoptosis has been suggested to involve ROS generation, inhibition of mitochondrial complex I activity, and caspase-3 activation (43, 48).

A role for alpha-synuclein in neuronal apoptosis is supported by studies showing that alpha-synuclein mice deficiency in prevents MPTP-induced neurodegeneration (49). Overexpression of mutant alphasynuclein promoted apoptosis (50) in association with elevated 8-hydroxyguanine, protein carbonyls, lipid peroxidation and 3-nitrotyrosine, consistent with oxidative stress (51). The findings that mutant alpha-synuclein overexpression enhanced cell susceptibility induced by serum deprivation, H₂O₂, MPP⁺, lactacystin or staurosporine are consistent with the notion that alphasynuclein mutation promoted vulnerability of dopaminergic SN neurons in PD to toxic agents (52). The formation of alpha-synuclein-immunopositive inclusion-like structures within the mitochondria and increased free radical production suggests a role for alpha-synuclein in mediating mitochondrial alterations and cellular oxidative stress (53). The selective vulnerability of dopaminergic neurons in parkinsonian SN is believed to be mediated by generation of quinone species, superoxide radicals and H₂O₂ (54). Consistent with a state of oxidative stress in PD brain, tissue GSH and the GSH-to-GSSG ratio were significantly decreased while lipid, protein and DNA oxidations and iron contents were elevated in the SN region (51, 55, 56).

4.1.3. Huntington's disease

Huntington's disease (HD) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by selective neuronal loss in the striatum and the cerebral cortex. A pathogenic role of apoptosis in HD is supported by findings of activated caspases and mitochondrial cytochrome c loss in brain tissues of HD patients and experimental HD models (57 -59). The slowing of disease progression in transgenic mouse models of HD with caspase inhibitors (58, 60) further support an involvement of apoptosis in disease pathogenesis. HD is caused by a mutation within the huntingtin gene through expansion of CAG repeats (61). While wild-type huntingtin protects against apoptosis by inhihiting procaspase-9 processing (62), mutant huntingtin induces death by activating caspases (59, 63). The proapoptotic function of mutant huntingtin is attributed to its caspase-generated toxic N-terminal fragments containing the expanded polyglutamine tract. Thus, during HD progression, cell survival is attenuated by the continual caspase cleavage of wild-type huntingtin and the formation

of toxic fragments (64). Aberrant interaction of mutant huntingtin with huntingtin interacting protein (HIP-1) also contributes to HD pathogenesis. In this regard, overexpression of native huntingtin to sequester HIP-1 reduces its cytotoxicity (65).

4.1.4. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a fatal disorder characterized by selective and progressive degeneration of motor neurons. About 20% of familial ALS are linked to mutations of the Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD1) gene (66). Notably, the neuronal degeneration associated with SOD1 mutation is attributed to a gain of new toxicity rather than a reduced SOD1 activity (67). Current evidence supports a pathogenic role for apoptosis in ALS. For instance, the expression of apoptotic markers, such as, LeY antigen and fractin as well as the prostate apoptosis response-4 (Par-4) protein were detected in the spinal cord of ALS patients (68) and transgenic SOD1 mice (69). Accordingly, antisense treatment with complementary Par-4 oligonucleotide attenuated mitochondrial dysfunction and accompanying oxidative stress-induced apoptosis (70). In addition, ALS is associated with decreased BcL-2 and increased Bax expression (71), and BcL-2 overexpression results in delayed neurodegeneration and motor neuron death (72).

4.1.5. Spinal muscular atrophy

Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) is an autosomal recessive disorder characterized progressive atrophy of the voluntary muscles of the limb and trunk consequent to degeneration and loss of spinal motor neurons. SMA is caused by mutations in the survival motor neuron (SMN)1 gene (73) wherein disease severity correlates with the homozygous deletions of the telomeric neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein (NAIP) gene. NAIP has been shown to inhibit caspase-3 and caspase-7 (74), implicating its role in apoptosis. Full-length SMN displays antiapoptotic properties and inhibits apoptotic cell death triggered by withdrawal of trophic support that is related to the suppression of mitochondrial activation of caspases. The anti-apoptotic effect of full-length SMN and the proapoptotic effect of mutant SMN have been documented in vitro and in vivo (75). The interaction of the exon 6 region of SMN with the BH4 domain of Bcl-2 proteins confers a synergistic anti-apoptotic effect against Bax- or Fas-mediated apoptosis ((76). Accordingly, SMN with a missense mutation at exon 6 or lacking exon 7 failed to synergize the anti-apoptotic activity of BcL-2 (76). The C-terminal region of the SMN protein is pivotal for survival. SMN mutants resistant to caspase cleavage exhibit enhanced survival while cleavage of the C-terminal of SMN (which include exon 6 and exon 7) by caspases induces a proapoptotic phenotype via generation of a proapoptotic fragment (75). Interestingly, SMN also binds the proapoptotic tumor suppressor protein p53, and point mutations of full-length SMN or deletion of the SMN1 gene increases p53 proapoptotic activity (77). Thus, pathological changes in specific exons in SMN alter its

interactions with BcL-2 and p53 that results in anti-or pro-apoptotic phenotypes.

4.1.6. Diabetic neuropathy and retinopathy

Diabetic neuropathy and retinopathy are important complications of diabetes mellitus. While a pathogenic role of apoptosis in disease process is poorly understood, patients with type 2 diabetes do exhibit elevated activities of caspase-1, -3, -4, and -6 in the retinas (78), consistent with enhanced apoptotic activity. Moreover, hyperglycemia has been shown to induce apoptosis in neuronal cells that is characterized by activated caspase-3, reduced BcL-2 and mitochondrial cytochrome c loss (79). An oxidative mechanism is that hyperglycemia implicated in mitochondrial superoxide production and the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). Apoptosis induction by AGEs has been described in cultured cortical neurons (80); however, the extent to which AGEs induces vascular and neuronal apoptosis in vivo remains to be defined.

4.2. Apoptosis in cerebral stroke and ischemia/reperfusion

Although current dogma ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) as an inflammatory process, growing evidence implicate apoptotic death in I/Rinduced microvascular and parenchymal cell death and organ failure (81). Excessive apoptosis has been linked to nerve cell loss in stroke. That apoptosis mediates neuronal death in cerebral I/R is supported by the findings of elevated caspase-3 (82) and protection by caspase inhibitors (83). Other evidence implicates oxidative stress as a trigger of I/R-induced neuronal apoptosis (84), and the involvement of MAPKs and NFkappaB in apoptotic signaling (85). The possibility that endothelial apoptosis can mediate aspects of post ischemic cerebrovascular pathology suggests that the pathophysiology of I/R-induced cerebral dysfunction is likely to involve apoptosis of both neuronal and microvascular endothelial cells. Evidence of apoptotic cells and activated caspase-3 has been described in various models of traumatic brain injury (86 - 88). Accordingly, intracerebro-ventricular administration of the caspase-3 inhibitor (z-DEVD-fmk) before and after the injury reduced post-traumatic cell apoptosis and significantly improved neurological recovery. Involvements of the mitochondrial and death receptors pathways are implicated. Activation of mitochondrial apoptotic signaling is indicated in cold injury-induced brain trauma (89), traumatic axonal injury (90), and controlled cortical impact (91). The findings of increased Fas immunoreactivity in cortical astrocytes and neurons as well as increased FasL expression in cortical neurons, astrocytes, and microglia after unilateral cortical impact injury (92) are evidence of death receptor involvement. The presence of apoptotic cells or activated caspases in spinal white matter in animal models (93), and in human patients (94) is consistent with elevated apoptotic activity in spinal cord injury. Treatment with caspase inhibitor or overexpression of the caspase-1 dominant negative

mutation in transgenic mice results in significant improvement of motor function and reduction of lesion size (95). Mitochondrial apoptotic signaling is implicated that involves Ca^{2+} elevation and calpain upregulation, increase in Bax: BcL-2 ratio, release of cytochrome c, and caspase-3 activation (96).

5. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVE

Recent interest in cerebral apoptosis comes from the recognition of its role in disease pathogenesis in neurodegeneration and trauma or ischemia-induced cerebral injury. The notion that neuronal apoptotic death may play a center role in disease or injury progression has spurred research efforts into development of intervention strategies directed at apoptosis regulation in the neuronal apoptotic death program. On the basis of existing evidence and their defined roles in the apoptotic pathway, much attention has focused on interventions directed against caspases and the BcL-2 protein family. Our more recent understanding of redox control and delineation of redox sensitive molecular components of the apoptotic death machinery should provide an important conceptual challenge for future research. Additionally, the documented involvement of astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and endothelial cells in models of acute cerebral injury suggests new research avenues to investigate the contribution of non-neuronal cell types to cerebral pathophysiology of a variety of acute and chronic neurological disorders.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Research in the authors' laboratory was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health, DK 44510 and DK 43785.

7. REFERENCES

- 1. Ashkenazi, A. & V.M. Dixit: Death Receptors: Signaling and Modulation. *Science* 281, 1305-1308 (1998)
- 2. Hsu, H., H. B. Shu, M. G. Pan & D.V. Goeddel: TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. *Cell* 84, 299-308 (1996)
- 3. Kramer, P.H: CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. *Nature* 407, 789-795 (2000)
- 4. Liu, Z.G., H. Hsu, D.V. Goeddel & M. Karin: Dissection of TNF receptor 1 effector functions: JNK activation is not linked to apoptosis while NF-kappaB activation prevents cell death. *Cell* 87, 565-576 (1996)
- 5. Green, D.R. & G. Kroemer: The central executioners of apoptosis: Caspases or mitochondria? *Trends in Cell Biology* 8, 267-71 (1998)
- 6. Yang, J., X. Liu, K. Bhalla, C.N. Kim, A. M. Ibrado, J. Cai, T.I. Peng, D. P. Jones & X. Wang: Prevention of

- apoptosis by BcL-2: release of cytochrome *c* from mitochondria. *Science* 275, 1129-1132 (1997)
- 7. Cai, J. & D. P. Jones: Superoxide in apoptosis. Mitochondrial generation triggered by cytochrome c loss. *J Bio Chem* 273, 11401-11404 (1998)
- 8. Thornberry, N.A. & Y. Lazebnik: Caspases: Enemies Within. *Science* 281, 1312-1316 (1998)
- 9. Chandra, J., A. Samali & S. Orrenius: Triggering and modulation of apoptosis by oxidative stress. *Free Rad Biol Med* 29, 323-333 (2000)
- 10. Cabaner, C., C. Gajate, A. Macho, E. Munoz, M. Modolell & F. Mollinedo: Induction of apoptosis in human mitogen-activated peripheral blood T-lymphocytes by the ether phospholipid ET-18-OCH3: involvement of the Fas receptor/ligand system. *Br J Pharmacol* 127, 813-825 (1999)
- 11. Bauer, M.K.A., M. Vogt, M. Los, J. Diegal, S. Wesselborg & K. Schulze-Osthoff: Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in activation-induced CD95 (APO-1/Fas) ligand expression. *J Biol Chem* 273, 8048-8055 (1998)
- 12. Hampton, M.G. & S. Orrenius: Dual regulation of caspase activity by hydrogen peroxide: implications for apoptosis. *FEBS Lett* 414, 552-556 (1997)
- 13. Macho, A., T. Hirsch, I. Marzo, P. Marchetti, B. Dallaporta, S. A. Susin, N. Zamzami & G. Kroemer: Glutathione depletion is an early and calcium elevation is a late event of thymocyte apoptosis. *J Immunol* 158, 4612-4619 (1997)
- 14. Voehringer, D.W., D.J. McConkey, T.J. McDonnel, S. Brisbay & R.E. Meyn: Bcl-2 expression causes redistribution of glutathione to the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 2956-2960 (1998)
- 15. Wang, T. G., Y. Gotoh, M. H. Jennings, C.A. Rhoads & T.Y. Aw: Cellular redox imbalance induced by lipid hydroperoxide promotes apoptosis in human colonic CaCo-2 cells. *FASEB J* 14, 1567-1576 (2000)
- 16. Kokura, S., R.E. Wolf, T. Yoshikawa, D.N. Granger & T.Y. Aw: Molecular mechanisms of neutrophil-endothelial cell adhesion induced by redox imbalance. *Circ Res* 84, 516-524 (1999)
- 17. Zamzami, N., I. Marzo, S.A. Susin, C. Brenner, N. Larochette, P. Marchetti, J. Reed, R. Kofler & G. Kroemer: The thiol crosslinking agent diamide overcomes the apoptosis-inhibitory effect of Bcl-2 by enforcing mitochondrial permeability transition. *Oncogene* 16, 1055-1063 (1998)
- 18. Freemerman, A. J. & G. Powis: A redox-inactive thioredoxin reduces growth and enhances apoptosis in

- WEH17.2 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 274, 136-141 (2000)
- 19. Pias, E.K. & T.Y. Aw: Apoptosis in mitotic competent undifferentiated cells is induced by redox imbalance independently of reactive oxygen species production. *FASEB J* 16, 781-790 (2002)
- 20. Pias, E.K. & T.Y. Aw: Early redox imbalance mediates hydroperoxide-induced apoptosis in mitotic competent undifferentiated cells. *Cell Death Differ* 9, 1007-1016 (2002)
- 21. Pias, E. K., O. Y. Ekshyyan, C. A. Rhoads, J. Fuseler, L. Harrison & T. Y. Aw: Differential effects of superoxide dismutase isoform expression on hydroperoxide-induced apoptosis in PC-12 cells. *J Biol Chem* 278, 13294-13301 (2003)
- 22. Sairanen, T., O. Carpen, M.L. Karjalainen-Lindsberg, A. Paetau, U. Turpeinen, M. Kaste & P.J. Lindsberg: Evolution of cerebral tumor necrosis factor-alpha production during human ischemic stroke. *Stroke* 32, 1750-1758 (2001)
- 23. Weiland, U., J. Haendeler, C. Ihling, U. Albus, W. Scholz, H. Ruetten, A.M. Zeiher & S. Dimmeler: Inhibition of endogenous nitric oxide synthase potentiates ischemia-reperfusion-induced myocardial apoptosis via a caspase-3 dependent pathway. *Cardiovas Res* 45, 671-678 (2000)
- 24. Dimmeler, S., J. Haendeler, M. Nehls & A.M. Zeiher: Suppression of apoptosis by nitric oxide via inhibition of interleukin 1beta-converting enzyme (ICE)-like and cysteine protease protein (CPP)-32-like proteases. *J Exp Med* 185, 601-607 (1997)
- 25. Rossig, L., B. Fichtlscherer, K. Breitschopf, J. Haendeler, A.M. Zeiher, A. Mulsch & S. Dimmeler: Nitric oxide inhibits caspase-3 by S-nitrosylation *in vivo. J Biol Chem* 274, 6823-6826 (1999)
- 26. Beg, A.A., W. Sha, R. Bronson, S. Ghosh & D. Baltimore: Embryonic lethality and liver degeneration in mice lacking the RelA component of NF-kappaB. *Nature* 376, 167-170 (1995)
- 27. Jones, B.E., C.R. Lo, H. Liu, Z. Pradhan, L. Garcia, A. Srinivasan., K.L. Valentino & M.J. Czaja: Role of caspases and NF- κ B signaling in hydrogen peroxide- and superoxide-induced hepatocyte apoptosis. *Am J Physiol* 278, C693-C699 (2000)
- 28. Wang, N., L. Verna, S. Hardy, Y. Zhu, K.S. Ma, M.J. Birrer & M.B. Stemerman: C-Jun triggers apoptosis in human vascular endothelial cells. *Circ Res* 85, 387-393 (1999)
- 29. Anderson, A. J., C. J. Pike & C. W. Cotman: Differential induction of immediate early gene proteins in cultured neurons by beta-amyloid (A beta): association of

- c-Jun with A beta-induced apoptosis. *J Neurochem* 65, 1487-1498 (1995)
- 30. Estus, S., W.J. Zaks, R.S. Freeman, M. Gruda, R. Bravo & E.M. Johnson Jr: Altered gene expression in neurons during programmed cell death: identification of c-jun as necessary for neuronal apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 127, 1717-1727 (1994)
- 31. Su, J.H., G. Deng & C.W. Cotman: Bax protein expression is increased in Alzheimer's brain: correlations with DNA damage, Bcl-2 expression, and brain pathology. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 56, 86-93 (1997)
- 32. Stadelmann, C., T.L. Deckwerth, A. Srinivasan, C. Bancher, W. Bruck, K. Jellinger & H. Lassmann: Activation of caspase-3 in single neurons and autophagic granules of granulovacuolar degeneration in Alzheimer's disease. Evidence for apoptotic cell death. *Am J Pathol* 155, 1459-1466 (1999)
- 33. Ivins, K.J., P.L. Thornton, T.T. Rohn & C.W. Cotman: Neuronal apoptosis induced by beta-amyloid is mediated by caspase-8. *Neurobiol Dis* 6, 440-449 (1999)
- 34. Troy, C.M., S.A. Rabacchi, W.J. Friedman, T.F. Frappier, K. Brown & M.L. Shelanski: Caspase-2 mediates neuronal cell death induced by beta-amyloid. *J Neurosci* 20, 1386-1392 (2000)
- 35. Marin, N., B. Romero, F. Bosch-Morell, M. Llansola, V. Felipo, J. Roma & F. J. Romero: Beta-amyloid-induced activation of caspase-3 in primary cultures of rat neurons. *Mech Ageing Dev* 119, 63-67 (2000)
- 36. Nakagawa, T., H. Zhu, N. Morishima, E. Li, J. Xu, B.A. Yankner & J. Yuan: Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. *Nature* 403, 98-103 (2000)
- 37. Tamagno, E., G. Robino, A. Obbili, P. Bardini, M. Aragno, M. Parola & O. Danni: H_2O_2 and 4-hydroxynonenal mediate amyloid beta-induced neuronal apoptosis by activating JNKs and p38MAPK. *Exp Neurol* 180, 144-155 (2003)
- 38. Marcus, D.L., C. Thomas, C. Rodriguez, K. Simberkoff, J.S. Tsai, J.A. Strafaci & M.L. Freedman: Increased peroxidation and reduced antioxidant enzyme activity in Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol* 150, 40-44 (1998)
- 39. Lovell, M.A., C. Xie & W.R. Markesbery: Decreased glutathione transferase activity in brain and ventricular fluid in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 51, 1562-1566 (1998)
- 40. Guo, Q., L. Sebastian, B. L. Sopher, M. W. Miller, G. W. Glazner, C. B. Ware, G. M. Martin & M. P. Mattson: Neurotrophic factors [activity-dependent neurotrophic factor (ADNF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF)] interrupt excitotoxic neurodegenerative cascades promoted

- by a PS1 mutation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 4125-4130 (1999)
- 41. Kitagawa, N., S. Shimohama, T. Oeda, K. Uemura, R. Kohno, A. Kuzuya, H. Shibasaki & N. Ishii: The role of the presenilin-1 homologue gene sel-12 of Caenorhabditis elegans in apoptotic activities. *J Biol Chem* 278, 12130-12134 (2003)
- 42. Kalaria, R.N: The blood-brain barrier and cerebrovascular pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Ann NY Acad Sci* 893, 113-125 (1999)
- 43. Hartmann, A., J.D. Troadec, S. Hunot, K. Kikly, B.A. Faucheux, A. Mouatt-Prigent, M. Ruberg, Y. Agid & E.C. Hirsch: Caspase-8 is an effector in apoptotic death of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease, but pathway inhibition results in neuronal necrosis. *J Neurosci* 21, 2247-2255 (2001)
- 44. Mogi, M., A. Togari, T. Kondo, Y. Mizuno, O. Komure, S. Kuno, H. Ichinose & T. Nagatsu: Caspase activities and tumor necrosis factor receptor R1 (p55) level are elevated in the substantia nigra from parkinsonian brain. *J Neural Transm* 107, 335-341 (2000)
- 45. Offen, D., P.M. Beart, N.S. Cheung, C.J. Pascoe, A. Hochman, S. Gorodin, E. Melamed, R. Bernard & O. Bernard: Transgenic mice expressing human Bcl-2 in their neurons are resistant to 6-hydroxydopamine and 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine neurotoxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 5789-5794 (1998)
- 46. Vila, M., V. Jackson-Lewis, S. Vukosavic, R. Djaldetti, G. Liberatore, D. Offen, S.J. Korsmeyer & S. Przedborski: Bax ablation prevents dopaminergic neurodegeneration in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2, 3, 6-tetrahydropyridine mouse model of Parkinson's disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 2837-2842 (2001)
- 47. Trimmer, P.A., T.S. Smith, A.B. Jung & J.P. Bennett Jr: Dopamine neurons from transgenic mice with a knockout of the p53 gene resist MPTP neurotoxicity. *Neurodegeneration* 5, 233-239 (1996)
- 48. Cassarino, D.S., E.M. Halvorsen, R.H. Swerdlow, N.N. Abramova, W.D. Parker, Jr., T.W. Sturgill & J.P. Bennett Jr: Interaction among mitochondria, mitogen-activated protein kinases, and nuclear factor-kappaB in cellular models of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* 74, 1384-1392 (2000)
- 49. Dauer, W., N. Kholodilov, M. Vila, A.C. Trillat, R. Goodchild, K.E. Larsen, R. Staal, K. Tieu, Y. Schmitz, C.A. Yuan, M. Rocha, V. Jackson-Lewis, S. Hersch, D. Sulzer, S. Przedborski, R. Burke & R. Hen: Resistance of alpha-synuclein null mice to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPTP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 99, 14524-14529 (2002)
- 50. Zhou, W., J. Schaack, W.M. Zawada & C.R. Freed: Overexpression of human alpha-synuclein causes dopamine

- neuron death in primary human mesencephalic culture. Brain Res 926, 42-50 (2002)
- 51. Alam, Z.I., A. Jenner, S.E. Daniel, A.J. Lees, N. Cairns, C.D. Marsden, P. Jenner & B. Halliwell: Oxidative DNA damage in the parkinsonian brain: an apparent selective increase in 8-hydroxyguanine levels in substantia nigra. *J Neurochem* 69, 1196-1203 (1997)
- 52. Lee, M., D. Hyun, B. Halliwell & P. Jenner: Effect of the overexpression of wild-type or mutant alpha-synuclein on cell susceptibility to insult. *J Neurochem* 76, 998-1009 (2001)
- 53. Hsu, L.J., Y. Sagara, A. Arroyo, E. Rockenstein, A. Sisk, M. Mallory, J. Wong, T. Takenouchi, M. Hashimoto & E. Masliah: Alpha-synuclein promotes mitochondrial deficit and oxidative stress. *Am J Pathol* 157, 401-410 (2000)
- 54. Graham, D.G: Oxidative pathways for catecholamines in the genesis of neuromelanin and cytotoxic quinones. *Mol Pharmacol* 14, 633-643 (1978)
- 55. Dexter, D.T., F.R. Wells, A.J. Lees, F. Agid, Y. Agid, P. Jenner & C.D. Marsden: Increased nigral iron content and alterations in other metal ions occurring in brain in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem* 52, 1830-1836 (1989)
- 56. Floor, E. & M.G. Wetzel: Increased protein oxidation in human substantia nigra pars compacta in comparison with basal ganglia and prefrontal cortex measured with an improved dinitrophenylhydrazine assay. *J Neurochem* 70, 268-275 (1998)
- 57. Kiechle, T., A. Dedeoglu, J. Kubilus, N.W. Kowall, M.F. Beal, R.M. Friedlander, S.M. Hersch & R.J. Ferrante: Cytochrome C and caspase-9 expression in Huntington's disease. *Neuromolecular Med* 1, 183-195 (2002)
- 58. Ona, V.O., M. Li, J.P. Vonsattel, L.J. Andrews, S.Q. Khan, W.M. Chung, A.S. Frey, A.S. Menon, X.J. Li, P.E. Stieg, J. Yuan, J.B. Penney, A.B. Young, J.H. Cha & R.M. Friedlander: Inhibition of caspase-1 slows disease progression in a mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Nature* 399, 263-267 (1999)
- 59. Sanchez, I., C.J. Xu, P. Juo, A. Kakizaka, J. Blenis & J. Yuan: Caspase-8 is required for cell death induced by expanded polyglutamine repeats. *Neuron* 22, 623-633 (1999)
- 60. Chen, M., V.O. Ona, M. Li, R.J. Ferrante, K.B. Fink, S. Zhu, J. Bian, L. Guo, L.A. Farrell, S.M. Hersch, W. Hobbs, J.P. Vonsattel, J.H. Cha & R.M. Friedlander: Minocycline inhibits caspase-1 and caspase-3 expression and delays mortality in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington disease. *Nat Med* 6, 797-801 (2000)
- 61. Sharp, A.H. & C.A. Ross: Neurobiology of Huntington's disease. *Neurobiol Dis* 3, 3-15 (1996)
- 62. Rigamonti, D. S. Sipione, D. Goffredo, C. Zuccato, E. Fossale & E. Cattaneo: Huntingtin's neuroprotective

- activity occurs via inhibition of procaspase-9 processing. *J Biol Chem* 276, 14545-14548 (2001)
- 63. Li, S.H., S. Lam, A.L. Cheng & X.J. Li: Intranuclear huntingtin increases the expression of caspase-1 and induces apoptosis. *Hum Mol Genet* 9, 2859-2867 (2000)
- 64. Friedlander, R.M: Apoptosis and caspases in neurodegenerative diseases. *N Engl J Med* 348, 1365-1375 (2003)
- 65. Hackam, A.S., A.S. Yassa, R. Singaraja, M. Metzler, C.A. Gutekunst, L. Gan, S. Warby, C.L. Wellington, J. Vaillancourt, N. Chen, F.G. Gervais, L. Raymond, D.W. Nicholson & M.R. Hayden: Huntingtin interacting protein 1 induces apoptosis via a novel caspase-dependent death effector domain. *J Biol Chem* 275, 41299-41308 (2000)
- 66. Rosen, D.R., T. Siddique, D. Patterson, D.A. Figlewicz, P. Sapp, A. Hentati, D. Donaldson, J. Goto, J.P. O'Regan, H.X. Deng, Z. Rahmani, A. Krizus, D. McKenna-Yasek, A. Cayabyab, S.M. Gaston, R. Berger, R.E. Tanzi, J.J. Halperin, B. Herzfeldt, R. Van den Bergh, W.-Y. Hung, T. Bird, G. Deng, D.W. Mulder, C. Smyth, N.G. Laing, E. Soriano, M.A. Pericak–Vance, J. Haines, G.A. Rouleau, J.S. Gusella, H.R. Horvitz & R.H. Brown: Mutations in Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene are associated with familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nature* 362, 59-62 (1993)
- 67. Brown, R.H. Jr. & W. Robberecht: Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: pathogenesis. *Semin Neurol* 21, 131-139 (2001)
- 68. Yoshiyama, Y., T. Yamada, K. Asanuma & T. Asahi: Apoptosis related antigen, Le (Y) and nick-end labeling are positive in spinal motor neurons in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neuropathol (Berl)* 88, 207-211 (1994)
- 69. Vukosavic, S., L. Stefanis, V. Jackson-Lewis, C. Guegan, N. Romero, C. Chen, M. Dubois-Dauphin & S. Przedborski: Delaying caspase activation by Bcl-2: A clue to disease retardation in a transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurosci* 20, 9119-9125 (2000)
- 70. Pedersen, W.A., H. Luo, I. Kruman, E. Kasarskis & M.P. Mattson: The prostate apoptosis response-4 protein participates in motor neuron degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *FASEB J* 14, 913-924 (2000)
- 71. Vukosavic, S., M. Dubois-Dauphin, N. Romero & S. Przedborski: Bax and Bcl-2 interaction in a transgenic mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurochem* 73, 2460-2468 (1999)
- 72. Kostic, V., V. Jackson-Lewis, F. de Bilbao, M. Dubois-Dauphin & S. Przedborski: Bcl-2: prolonging life in a transgenic mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 277, 559-562 (1997)
- 73. Lefebvre, S., L. Burglen, S. Reboullet, O. Clermont, P. Burlet, L. Viollet, B. Benichou, C. Cruaud, P. Millasseau,

- M. Zeviani, D. La Paslier, J. Frezal, D. Cohen, J. Weissenbach, A. Munnich & J. Melki: Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophy-determining gene. *Cell* 80, 155-165 (1995)
- 74. Maier, J.K., Z. Lahoua, N.H. Gendron, R. Fetni, A. Johnston, J. Davoodi, D. Rasper, S. Roy, R.S. Slack, D.W. Nicholson & A. E. MacKenzie: The neuronal apoptosis inhibitory protein is a direct inhibitor of caspases 3 and 7. *J Neurosci* 22, 2035-2043 (2002)
- 75. Kerr, D.A., J.P. Nery, R.J. Traystman, B.N. Chau & J.M. Hardwick: Survival motor neuron protein modulates neuron-specific apoptosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 13312-13317 (2000)
- 76. Iwahashi, H., Y. Eguchi, N. Yasuhara, T. Hanafusa, Y. Matsuzawa & Y. Tsujimoto: Synergistic anti-apoptotic activity between Bcl-2 and SMN implicated in spinal muscular atrophy. *Nature* 390, 413-417 (1997)
- 77. Young, P.J., P.M. Day, J. Zhou, E.J. Androphy, G.E. Morris & C.L. Lorson: A direct interaction between the survival motor neuron protein and p53 and its relationship to spinal muscular atrophy. *J Biol Chem* 277, 2852-2859 (2002)
- 78. Mohr, S., X. Xi, J. Tang & T.S. Kern: Caspase activation in retinas of diabetic and galactosemic mice and diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 51, 1172-1179 (2002)
- 79. Schmeichel, A.M., J.D. Schmelzer & P.A. Low: Oxidative injury and apoptosis of dorsal root ganglion neurons in chronic experimental diabetic neuropathy. *Diabetes* 52, 165-171 (2003)
- 80. Kikuchi, S., K. Shinpo, F. Moriwaka, Z. Makita, T. Miyata & K. Tashiro: Neurotoxicity of methylglyoxal and 3-deoxyglucosone on cultured cortical neurons: synergism between glycation and oxidative stress, possibly involved in neurodegenerative diseases. *J Neurosci Res* 57, 280-289 (1999)
- 81. Pias, E. K. & T. Y. Aw: Mechanisms of parenchymal apoptosis. In: Molecular Basis of Microcirculatory Disorders. Eds: Schmid-Schonbein, GW & Granger, DN, Springer Verlag, 297-309 (2003)
- 82. Namura, S., J. Zhu, K. Fink, A. Endres Srinivasan, K.J. Tomaselli, J. Yuan & M.A. Moskowitz: Activation and cleavage of caspase-3 in apoptosis induced by experimental cerebral ischemia. *J Neurosci* 18, 3659-3668 (1998)
- 83. Cheng, Y., M. Deshmukh, A. D'Costa, J.A. Demaro, J.M. Gidday, A. Shah, Y. Sun, M.F. Jaquin, E.M. Johnson & D.M. Holtzman: Caspase inhibitor affords neuroprotection with delayed administration in a rat model of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. *J Clin Invest* 101, 992-1999 (1998)
- 84. Tagami, M., K. Ikeda, K. Yamagata, Y. Nara, H. Fujino, A. Kubota, F. Numano & Y. Yamori: Vitamin E

- prevents apoptosis in hippocampal neurons caused by cerebral ischemia and reperfusion in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Lab Invest* 79, 609-615 (1999)
- 85. Takuma, K., E. Lee, M. Kidawara, K. Mori, Y. Kimura, A. Baba & T. Matsuda: Apoptosis in Ca²⁺ reperfusion injury of cultured astrocytes: roles of reactive oxygen species and NF-kappa B activation. *Eur J Neurosci* 11, 4202-4212 (1999)
- 86. Clark, R.S., P.M. Kochanek, S.C. Watkins, M. Chen, C.E. Dixon, N.A. Seidberg, J. Melick, J.E. Loeffert, P.D. Nathaniel, K.L. Jin & S.H. Graham: Caspase-3 mediated neuronal death after traumatic brain injury in rats. *J Neurochem* 74, 740-753 (2000)
- 87. Beer, R., G. Franz, A. Srinivasan, R. L. Hayes, B.R. Pike, J. K. Newcomb, X. Zhao, E. Schmutzhard, W. Poewe & A. Kampfl: Temporal profile and cell subtype distribution of activated caspase-3 following experimental traumatic brain injury. *J Neurochem*. 75, 1264-1273 (2000)
- 88. Yakovlev, A.G., S.M. Knoblach, L. Fan, G.B. Fox, R. Goodnight & A.I. Faden: Activation of CPP32-like caspases contributes to neuronal apoptosis and neurological dysfunction after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurosci* 17, 7415-7424 (1997)
- 89. Morita-Fujimura, Y., M. Fujimura, M. Kawase, S.F. Chen & P.H. Chan: Release of mitochondrial cytochrome c and DNA fragmentation after cold injury-induced brain trauma in mice: possible role in neuronal apoptosis. *Neurosci Lett* 267, 201-205 (1999)
- 90. Buki, A., D.O. Okonkwo, K.K. Wang & J.T. Povlishock: Cytochrome c release and caspase activation in traumatic axonal injury. *J Neurosci.* 20, 2825-2834 (2000)
- 91. Sullivan, P.G., J.N. Keller, W.L. Bussen & S.W. Scheff: Cytochrome c release and caspase activation after traumatic brain injury. *Brain Res* 949, 88-96 (2002)
- 92. Beer, R., G. Franz, M. Schopf, M. Reindl, B. Zelger, E. Schmutzhard, W. Poewe & A. Kampfl: Expression of Fas and Fas ligand after experimental traumatic brain injury in the rat. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* 20, 669-677 (2000)
- 93. Crowe, M.J., J.C. Bresnahan, S.L. Shuman, J.N. Masters & M.S. Beattie: Apoptosis and delayed degeneration after spinal cord injury in rats and monkeys. *Nat Med* 3, 73-76 (1997)
- 94. Springer, J.E., R.D. Azbill & P.E. Knapp: Activation of the caspase-3 apoptotic cascade in traumatic spinal cord injury. *Nat Med* 5, 943-946 (1999)
- 95. Li, M., V.O. Ona, M. Chen, M. Kaul, L. Tenneti, X. Zhang, P.E. Stieg, S.A. Lipton & R.M. Friedlander: Functional role and therapeutic implications of neuronal

Apoptosis and neurological disorders

caspase-1 and -3 in a mouse model of traumatic spinal cord injury. *Neuroscience* 99, 333-342 (2000)

96. Wingrave, J.M., K.E. Schaecher, E.A. Sribnick, G.G. Wilford, S.K. Ray, D.J. Hazen-Martin, E.L. Hogan & N.L. Banik: Early induction of secondary injury factors causing activation of calpain and mitochondria-mediated neuronal apoptosis following spinal cord injury in rats. *J Neurosci Res* 73, 95-104 (2003)

Key Words: Neuronal apoptosis, Apoptosis and neurodegeneration, Mitochondrial apoptotic signaling, Oxidative stress and apoptosis, Apoptosis and cerebrovascular injury, Cerebral ischemia/reperfusion, Review

Send correspondence to: Tak Yee Aw, PhD, Department of Molecular and Cellular Physiology, Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, 1501 Kings Highway, Shreveport Louisiana 71130-3932, Tel: 318-675-6032, Fax: 318-675-4217, E-mail: taw@lsuhsc.edu